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INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal of a Notice of Intent to Assess a Civil Administrative Penalty (“PAN”) that was issued by the Department of Environmental Protection (“MassDEP” or “Department”) in the amount of $55,414.50. 
  The PAN alleges that after acquiring a parcel of property off Lock (a/k/a Locke) Drive, Leominster, MA (the “Site”), Petitioner, Margo Xarras, violated the Department’s Solid Waste, Air Pollution Control, and Wetlands Protection Regulations.  At the same time the Department issued the PAN it also issued a Unilateral Administrative Order (“UAO”), alleging the same violations that were asserted in the PAN and ordering the Petitioner to perform certain measures at the Site, allegedly to come fully into compliance with applicable environmental laws.  See UAO, dated December 28, 2007.  This Recommended Final Decision does not address the merits of the UAO.


The Petitioner timely appealed the PAN, claiming that there was insufficient evidence of willfulness, and thus the Department was without authority to assess the penalty against her.  The Petitioner also claimed that the penalty was excessive because the Department failed to make sufficient downward adjustments for good faith and should not have made upward adjustments for gravity.  The Petitioner did not file a timely appeal of the UAO.  See Matter of Margot Xarras, Docket No. 2008-059, Recommended Final Decision (June 26, 2008), adopted as Final Decision (June 27, 2008).  
After the Petitioner filed her appeal, the Department asserted that the Petitioner should be precluded from challenging liability for the violations alleged in the PAN.  The Department argued that because the Petitioner “could have, but did not, litigate her liability for the violations in an appeal of the [UAO], she is precluded from relitigating liability for those same violations in this PAN appeal.”  The Department argued that the Petitioner should be bound by “the liability determinations made by the Department in the unappealed Unilateral Order . . ., thus leaving for hearing only the resolution of the issue relating to the reasonableness of the penalty.”  Department’s Memorandum and Request for Order to Show Cause, p. 9 (December 23, 2009) (“Motion for Preclusion”).  

On March 8, 2010, I decided to hold the Motion for Preclusion in abeyance because the applicable law was unclear and a prompt resolution on liability would not have significantly promoted judicial economy.  See Ruling on Motion to Preclude Evidence Regarding Liability.  I subsequently held an adjudicatory hearing on the appeal of the PAN.  Based on the applicable law and the testimonial and documentary evidence, as discussed in detail below, I recommend that the Department’s Commissioner enter a Final Decision upholding the PAN.  There is sufficient evidence of willfulness and the Department adequately exercised its discretion in calculating the penalty.  The Motion for Preclusion should be denied because the UAO was issued at the same time as the PAN, which was timely appealed; the UAO therefore does not constitute a prior final judgment on the merits for purposes of claim preclusion.  
THE BURDEN OF PROOF 


Under 310 CMR 5.00, when the Department seeks to assess an administrative penalty against any party it has the burden of proving the elements of its case by a preponderance of the evidence.  See 310 CMR 5.36(2) and (3).  “A party in a civil case having the burden of proving a particular fact [by a preponderance of the evidence] does not have to establish the existence of that fact as an absolute certainty. . . .  [I]t is sufficient if the party having the burden of proving a particular fact establishes the existence of that fact as the greater likelihood, the greater probability.”  Massachusetts Jury Instructions, Civil, 1.14(d).

The relevancy, admissibility, and weight of evidence that the parties sought to introduce in the Hearing were governed by G.L. c. 30A, § 11(2) and 310 CMR 1.01(13)(h)(1).  Under G.L. c. 30A, § 11(2):

[u]nless otherwise provided by any law, agencies need not observe the rules of evidence observed by courts, but shall observe the rules of privilege recognized by law. Evidence may be admitted and given probative effect only if it is the kind of evidence on which reasonable persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs.   Agencies may exclude unduly repetitious evidence, whether offered on direct examination or cross-examination of witnesses.

Under 310 CMR 1.01(13)(h), “[t]he weight to be attached to any evidence in the record will rest within the sound discretion of the Presiding Officer. . . .”
BACKGROUND


The Site consists of 4.80 acres, almost all of which is located within Zone A of the 100 year floodplain, and is therefore Bordering Land Subject to Flooding (or “BLSF”); the 2 acres on the southwest portion of the Site are also located within the 200 foot Riverfront Area bordering the Nashua River.  See Stone Pre-Filed Direct Testimony (“PFT”), attached May 17, 2006 Soil Assessment Report, pp. 1, 2 (“Stone Report”).  Riverfront Area and BLSF are wetland resource areas subject to protection under G.L. c. 131 § 40 and 310 CMR 10.02(1).  See 310 CMR 10.57 and 10.58.  The Nashua River borders two sides of the Site.  Heeley PFT, ¶ 10.  

For at least the last twenty to thirty years approximately 2.9 acres of the Site have been covered with historic fill material, including large quantities of solid waste, consisting of demolition waste and household rubbish.
  Stone Report, pp. 1-2.  The “majority of the solid waste [was] construction materials and debris that were left on the property by . . . Crowley Construction[,]” a prior owner of the Site.  Stone Report, p.1.  The solid waste included “sheet metal, metal and wood frame forms for concrete work, metal tie rods, rubber tires, shards of transite pipe, shingles, wood, scrap metal, large pieces of concrete, concrete blocks, fire bricks, clay bricks, pieces of bituminous (asphalt) pavement, pieces and shards of metal and plastic pipe, . . . various plastic cloth and tarp materials. . . . demolition material – e.g. bricks, broken concrete blocks, [and] chunks of bituminous pavement.”  Stone Report, pp. 4, 5.  “Surficial solid waste” was present across much of the site,” including “demolition rubble – bricks, firebricks, concrete blocks, tiles, chunks of pavement, reinforcing rods and similar materials[,] . . . [n]umerous small heaps and piles of construction materials, including concrete pipes, sewer and drain structures, tires, structural steel and wood . . .”  Stone Report, p. 6.   The remainder of the Site is wooded floodplain.  Stone Report, pp. 1-2.  

Crowley Construction used the Site from approximately 1974 until April 2, 2004, when it was sold to Walter Fiore, who subsequently sold it on November 22, 2005 to the Petitioner.  Stone Report, p. 2.  The Site’s abutters, and the Petitioner’s witnesses, testified that that they were aware the Site “contained miscellaneous trash and other construction debris throughout the entire site.”  Tocci, ¶ 4; see also Pirro PFT.  They “observed that the materials on site, the solid waste and asbestos containing materials, are historic and were on the site well prior to November 22, 2005.”  Tocci, ¶ 9; see also Pirro PFT.  
In November 2005, Walter Fiore conveyed the Site to the Petitioner for $275,000, and it was agreed that Mr. Fiore would “clean the trash and debris from the Site once the weather broke in the Spring of 2006.”  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 1; Petitioner’s Memorandum of Law, p. 2; Xarras PFT, ¶¶ 3-7; Penny PFT, Exhibit B.  The Petitioner was planning to redevelop the Site for use as soccer fields.
  Stone Report, p. 2; Xarras PFT, ¶ 4; Heeley PFT, ¶ 12.  
In March of 2006, Mr. Fiore followed through on his agreement with the Petitioner and began “clean[ing] the trash and debris from the Site.”  Stone Report, p. 2; Xarras PFT, ¶ 4; Heeley PFT, ¶ 12.  Mr. Fiore’s company, “Fiore Construction[,] . . . remove[d] . . . debris and approximately 20 rolloff containers/dumpsters of solid waste were removed from the site.  During cleanup activities grading occurred to level and spread various piles of soil and waste so as to expose the waste for cleanup and level the site.  During these activities some soil (new fill) and waste [approximately 920 yards] were pushed down the existing banks of the old fill resulting in the filling of BLSF and burial of solid waste.”  Stone Report, pp. 1-2; see also Xarras PFT, ¶ 4; Heeley PFT, ¶ 12; Jalonski PFT, ¶¶ 9-10.  
The fill that was pushed into previously unfilled areas in BLSF and Riverfront Area was fill material that originated on the Site, containing “mixed cobble, gravel, sand and silt containing some solid waste largely consisting of demolition material – e.g. bricks, broken concrete blocks, chunks of bituminous pavement.”  Stone Report, p. 5.  An estimated 12,500 square feet of area was covered with this fill, ranging in depth from .5 to 5 feet.  Id.  This resulted in the “burial of some solid waste that was contained in the fill that also was pushed over the existing bank and buried, or solid waste on the surface of the old fill that subsequently was buried beneath the new fill.”  Id.  There was substantial movement of “surficial solid waste debris” around the Site.  Stone Report, p. 1; Jalonski PFT, Exhibit 1; Penny PFT, Exhibit G, Appendix C.
Mr. Xarras, the Petitioner’s husband, had some involvement in the purchase and management of the Site on behalf of the Petitioner.  Heeley PFT, ¶ 12; Xarras PFT, ¶¶ 1-20 (the “arrangement was that Mr. Fiore [would] clean up the property as it was a former construction site for Crowley Construction Company and had trash and other debris on it.”).  Mr. Xarras has known Mr. Fiore for approximately ten years.  Xarras Testimony, Tape 3.
   Mr. Xarras owns a construction company and has been involved with property development since approximately 1981.  Xarras Testimony, Tape 3.  
The Department did not become involved with the Site until April 10, 2010, when local officials called to report alleged improper disposal of asbestos materials and solid waste on the Site. 
  Heeley PFT, ¶ 7.  Department staff reported to the Site and observed pieces of asbestos strewn across it, including a 6-foot section of asbestos transite water pipe.  Heeley PFT, ¶¶ 11-12.  On April 12, 2006, the Department issued a Unilateral Administrative Order, which included a cease and desist order and specified remedial actions to be performed.  Penny PFT, Exhibit C. 

The Petitioner and Mr. Xarras responded by contacting the asbestos remediation contractor Mr. Xarras “had used . . . on other projects in the past . . .”   Heeley PFT, ¶ 12.    Ultimately, an asbestos remediation contractor removed “42 bags of broken pieces of asbestos transite pipe . . . .”  Heeley PFT, ¶¶ 15-16; Stone Report, p. 3.  In response to Department orders, other restoration and remediation work was ultimately performed.  Stone Report; Heeley PFT; Penny PFT; Jalonski PFT.  It is undisputed that the Petitioner acted promptly in responding to the Department orders to properly assess and cleanup the asbestos and solid waste at the Site.  Xarras PFT, ¶¶ 7- 20; Heeley PFT, ¶¶ 12-13, 15; Healey Testimony, Tape 1 (Petitioner was “cooperative” and acted in “good faith”). 
On December 28, 2007, the Department issued the PAN to the Petitioner, alleging the Petitioner was liable for:

1. Establishing, constructing, operating or maintaining a dumping ground, or maintaining a landfill in such a manner as to constitute an open dump, in violation of G.L. c. 111 § 150A and 310 CMR 19.014;

2. Storing and handling dry uncontainerized asbestos containing waste material at an unapproved location, in violation of 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a. and 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)2; and 

3. Allowing the filling and alteration of Riverfront Areas and Land Subject to Flooding on the Site without filing a Notice of Intent, in violation of 310 CMR 10.02(2)(a), and in such a manner that it violated the performance standards for Land Subject to Flooding and Riverfront Area in violation of 310 CMR 10.57(4) and 310 CMR 10.58(4) and (5), respectively.  
PAN, pp. 1-2. 
The Petitioner has challenged the PAN, claiming that there was insufficient evidence of willfulness, and thus the Department was without authority to assess the penalty against her.  She claims that the conditions at the Site existed before she purchased it, and that she added none of the solid waste to it.  In addition, she claims that the work was performed by Mr. Fiore, not her.  The Petitioner also claimed that the penalty was excessive because the Department failed to make sufficient downward adjustments for good faith and should not have made upward adjustments for gravity.  

At the Hearing, the following witnesses testified on behalf of the Department:

1. Donald Heeley.  Mr. Heeley is employed as an Environmental Analyst III with the Bureau of Waste Prevention, Asbestos Program, in the Department’s Central Regional Office, Worcester, MA.  He has been employed with the Department since 1985.  He holds a BS in biology and has received substantial training and education in asbestos handling and abatement.  Heeley PFT, ¶¶ 3-5.
2. Michael Penny.  Mr. Penny is employed as an Environmental Analyst III with the Bureau of Waste Prevention, in the Department’s Central Regional Office, Worcester, MA.   He has been employed with the Department since 1991.  He holds a BS in natural science.

3. Martin P. Jalonski.  Mr. Jalonski is employed as an Environmental Analyst with the Bureau of Resource Protection in the Department’s Central Regional Office, Worcester, MA.  He has been employed with the Department since 1983.  He holds a BS in biology and a MS in natural resources, and has substantial training and experience in wetlands and waterways.  Jalonski PFT, ¶¶ 1-4.
4. Gregory P. Levins.  Mr. Levins is employed as an Environmental Analyst V with the Bureau of Waste Prevention in the Department’s Central Regional Office, Worcester, MA.  He has been employed with the Department since 1982.  He holds a BS in geography, and has substantial training and experience in asbestos handling and remediation.  Levins PFT, ¶¶ 1-3.

The following witnesses testified on behalf of the Petitioner:

1. Alton Stone.  Mr. Stone is a Professional Engineer and Licensed Site Professional.  He was retained by the Petitioner in April 2006 to perform an environmental assessment of the Site.  Stone PFT, ¶¶ 2, 8. 

2. Robert Tocci.  Mr. Tocci is an abutter to the Site, who testified as a fact witness.  Tocci PFT.
3. James L. Xarras.  Mr. Xarras is married to the Petitioner; he testified as a fact witness.  Xarras PFT.
4. Nicholas Pirro, Jr.  Mr. Pirro is an abutter to the Site, who testified as a fact witness.  Pirro PFT.
DISCUSSION
I.
The Department’s Motion for Preclusion Should Be Denied
Upon filing its Pre-Filed Direct Testimony the Department filed its Motion for Preclusion.  The Department argued that an unappealed Unilateral Administrative Order (UAO-CE-07-9007-46C) (“UAO”) that was issued to the Petitioner in Matter of Margot Xarras, Docket No. 2008-059, should be binding with respect to liability in this appeal of the PAN as a matter of res judicata, specifically claim preclusion.  See Motion for Preclusion, Ex. 1 (PAN and UAO); Department’s Response to Petitioner’s Memorandum Regarding Order to Show Cause, and Department’s Motion to Strike (“Department Response”), pp. 3-4 (asserting claim preclusion); In re David Brennan d/b/a Brennco Builders, 275 B.R. 172, 174 (Bankr. D. Mass. 2002)(stating that res judicata includes doctrines of issue preclusion and claim preclusion).

The UAO and PAN were issued to Ms. Xarras on the same date, December 28, 2008.  See Matter of Margot Xarras, Docket No. 2008-059, Recommended Final Decision (June 26, 2008), adopted as Final Decision (June 27, 2008).  The UAO and the PAN are based upon the same alleged violations; they also both contain clear statements that each must be appealed, if at all, within 21 days of their issuance.  Id.; Motion for Preclusion, Ex. 1.  The UAO appeal was not filed until February 29, 2009, one day after Ms. Xarras claims she first learned of the UAO at the Pre-Screening Conference for the PAN appeal.  See Matter of Margot Xarras, Docket No. 2008-059, Recommended Final Decision (June 26, 2008), adopted as Final Decision (June 27, 2008).  Ms. Xarras argued that the UAO appeal was filed late because she believed that she had received two copies of the PAN, instead of one copy each of the PAN and UAO.  A Presiding Officer determined that Ms. Xarras’ UAO appeal was untimely.  That was adopted as a Final Decision, which was affirmed on appeal to the Superior Court.  Id.; Motion for Preclusion, Ex. 2 (Superior Court Clerk’s Notice of Decision affirming Final Decision in G.L. c. 30A appeal).  
Ms. Xarras argues res judicata does not apply to her PAN appeal because there was no actual litigation and final adjudication on the merits; instead, it was determined that the UAO appeal was untimely, and so the claims were never litigated on the merits.  See Petitioner’s Further Response to the Order to Show Cause.  The Department responds that the failure to appeal the UAO is equivalent to a default on a complaint in a civil action.  Citing cases in that context, the Department argues “there is unambiguous precedent treating default judgments as valid final judgments sufficient to support a finding of claim preclusion.”  Department Response, p. 3.

The law regarding whether res judicata precludes litigation of liability for the PAN is not clear.  It is clear that with issue preclusion, which is not being asserted here, the party invoking issue preclusion must demonstrate that “the issue for which preclusive effect is sought was actually litigated and was essential to the judgment in the prior action.”  In re David Brennan d/b/a Brennco Builders, 275 B.R. at 175 (emphasis added).  Thus, issue preclusion cannot be based upon a default judgment because there was no actual litigation.  Id. 

Here, the Department urges me to apply claim preclusion.  The Department correctly asserts that there is “unambiguous precedent treating default judgments as valid final judgments sufficient to support a finding of claim preclusion.”  Department Response, p. 3 (citing In re David Brennan d/b/a Brennco Builders, 275 B.R. 172, 177 (2002)).  The Supreme Judicial Court, however, has been less than clear as to whether default judgments can be used for claim preclusion.  In Treglia v. MacDonald, 430 Mass. 237, 241-42 (1999) the court stated: “We reaffirm that preclusive effect should not be given to issues or claims that were not actually litigated in a prior action.”  Treglia,  430 Mass. at 241-42 (emphasis added), citing Martin v. Ring, 401 Mass. 59, 61, 514 N.E. 2d 663 (1987) (a case based upon issue preclusion)).  Other courts have distinguished Treglia or explained that it contains insupportable dictum that mistakenly lumps claim and issue preclusion together.  See In re David Brennan d/b/a Brennco Builders, 275 B.R. at 175-76 (relying upon 1939 Supreme Judicial Court case and distinguishing Treglia on the basis that Treglia is an issue preclusion case); Hsu v. Wilkins, 2009 WL 3508865, Memorandum of Decision on the Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss, n. 8 (Mass. Super. 2009)(distinguishing Treglia and deciding that claim preclusion applies to default judgments “notwithstanding a somewhat confusing dictum in Treglia . . .”); see also Giuffrida v. Zoning Board of Appeals of Falmouth, 68 Mass. App. Ct. 396, 862 N.E.2d 417 (2007)(“One challenging the validity of an order before an agency or a court is bound by an unappealed adverse ruling, not only as to the grounds he raised, but as to those he might have raised but elected to forgo.”).

Although I agree with Associate Justice Billings conclusion in Hsu v. Wilkins, that Treglia incorrectly stated in dictum that claim preclusion does not apply to default judgments, I conclude that claim preclusion should not be applied in this case.  Indeed, the circumstances of this matter are unique in the context of claim preclusion; the Department seeks preclusive effect based upon a separate action that commenced at the same time as the PAN.  The separate actions are based upon the same claims, but seek different relief—one seeks a penalty (PAN) and the other seeks to compel performance of certain actions (UAO).  The Petitioner successfully exercised her appellate rights with regard to the PAN but not with regard to the UAO.  
Typically, preclusive effect attaches to prior actions, and subsequent litigation arising out of the prior action.  It “makes a valid, final judgment conclusive on parties and their privies, and bars further litigation on all matters that were or should have been adjudicated in the action.”  In re David Brennan d/b/a Brennco Builders, 275 B.R. at 175.  It applies when each party “has had the incentive and opportunity to litigate the matter fully in the first lawsuit.”  Id. (emphasis added).  In addition to identity of the parties and the causes of action, it requires a prior final judgment on the merits.  Id.   
Here, there was no prior action or prior final judgment on the merits, only simultaneously commenced actions.  Although Ms. Xarras did not successfully appeal the UAO, her appeal of the PAN evidences an intent to oppose the merits of the claims in the PAN, which are identical to the claims in the UAO.
  Given this, her simultaneous failure to successfully appeal the UAO should not preclude her from challenging the merits of the PAN.  Ms. Xarras claimed to believe that the UAO was another copy of the PAN, which is plausible given their similarities in form and content.  Under these circumstances, the claim preclusion policy of avoiding piecemeal litigation is not significantly implicated because there was no prior action where the Petitioner had an opportunity to litigate the claims.  Instead, there were two simultaneously commenced actions seeking different relief, and the Petitioner, either intentionally or unintentionally, chose to appeal one action.  See Heacock v. Heacock, 402 Mass. 21, 24-25 (1988)(declining to apply claim preclusion because, in part, the “policy considerations commonly advanced to justify the doctrine of claim preclusion are not implicated in the circumstances of this case.  Maintenance of the tort claim will not subject the defendant and the courts to the type of piecemeal litigation that the doctrine of claim preclusion seeks to prevent.”).  Moreover, as a general matter, under these circumstances a party may oppose a penalty assessed in a PAN but not oppose the UAO because the party believes that it has either complied with the order or intends to comply with the order.  That party’s PAN appeal should not be prejudiced by a deliberate decision not to appeal the UAO.  

For all the above reasons, particularly the ambiguous law, the Motion for Preclusion should be denied.
  
II.
The Department Had Legal Authority To Issue The PAN

A.
The Department Properly Interpreted And Applied “Willful And Not The 


Result of Error”
The Department is authorized by the Civil Administrative Penalties Act, G.L. c. 21A, 

§ 16, and the Administrative Penalty Regulations at 310 CMR 5.00, to assess civil administrative penalties.  The Civil Administrative Penalties Act and the Administrative Penalty Regulations are designed to “promote protection of public health, safety, and welfare, and the environment, by promoting compliance, and deterring and penalizing noncompliance . . . .”  310 CMR 5.02(1).


Generally, the Department “may assess a civil administrative penalty on a person who fails to comply with any provision of any regulation, . . . or of any law which the department has the authority or responsibility to enforce [if] . . . such noncompliance occurred after the department had given such person written notice of such noncompliance, and after reasonable time, as determined by the department and stated in said notice, had elapsed for coming into compliance . . .”  G.L. c. 21A, § 16; 310 CMR 5.10 to 310 CMR 5.12.  However, the Department “may assess such penalty without providing such written notice if such failure to comply: . . . was willful and not the result of error.”  G.L. c. 21A, § 16 (emphasis added); 310 CMR 5.14.

The Petitioner does not dispute liability for the alleged violations.  Instead, she claims only that the violations were not willful.  She claims that because she had just acquired title to the Site “the appropriate course of action should have been to issue a Notice of Noncompliance giving [her] a fair and reasonable opportunity to remedy the alleged deficiencies.”  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 2.  She argues that 310 CMR 5.12 “requires, as a general rule, that a Notice of Non-Compliance be issued prior to the assessment of a civil administrative penalty.”    Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 2.  The Petitioner contends it is not enough that she intended to commit the actions that resulted in the violation; instead, she claims that she must have “intentionally violated the regulations.”  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 3.  She asserts that the cleanup of the Site was “completely under the control of” Mr. Fiore, and she “performed no action(s) that lead to the alleged violations.”  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 4.  

The Petitioner’s arguments are not persuasive and they are inconsistent with prior Department decisions and applicable law.  For a number of years Final Decisions of the Department’s Commissioner in administrative appeals have consistently held that “willfulness,” as used in G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.14, does not require proof of bad faith, intent to violate the law, or any knowledge of applicable legal requirements by the environmental law violator; “[it] requires only the intent to do an act that violates the law if done, and nothing more.”  Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision (March 22, 2010) adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010) (quoting Matter of James G. Grant Company, Inc., Docket No. 92-044, Final Decision, 2000 MA ENV LEXIS 127, at 5-6, and providing string citation).  This interpretation is consistent with principles of statutory construction and Massachusetts case law.  Id.  
The phrase “not the result of error” has been interpreted to mean “that the violations are not accidental, unforeseeable and beyond the control of the regulated entity.”  Id.; Matter of Cummings Properties Management, Inc., Docket No. 98-030, Final Decision, 7 DEPR 139, 145 (October 20, 2000)(quoting the Department's June, 1999 "Guidance on Applying Willful and Not the Result of Error as a Precondition to Assessing a Penalty.") .
The Petitioner’s arguments that a willfulness finding is somehow dependent upon the degree of environmental harm or bad faith or upon issuance of a prior notice of noncompliance have been generally addressed and found unpersuasive in prior Department decisions.  See Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision (March 22, 2010) adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010) (citing In the Matter of Paul Campagna, Docket No. 98-112, 2000 MA ENV LEXIS 115 (November 1, 2000) (the petitioner argued that the Department’s interpretation of willful was “overly aggressive” and rendered the other preconditions—such as "pattern of noncompliance", "failure to promptly report" and "failure to maintain remedy operation status" meaningless); In the Matter of Timothy Maginnis, Docket No. 97-151, Ruling on Cross Motions for Summary Decision (March 23, 1999)(“There is nothing in the statutory language to suggest that the meaning of willful is dependent upon the seriousness of the violation and the degree of environmental harm.”).  
Here, a preponderance of the evidence shows willfulness based upon (1) the Petitioner’s own conduct and, alternatively, (2) the conduct of Mr. Fiore, for which the Petitioner is vicariously liable.
1. Evidence Of Willfulness
Solid Waste Violations.  The Department alleged in the PAN that the Petitioner violated 310 CMR 19.014(1).  That provision provides in relevant part the following:

No person shall establish, construct, operate or maintain a dumping ground or operate or maintain a landfill in Massachusetts in such manner as to constitute an open dump. For the purpose of 310 CMR 19.014, the phrase "establish, construct, operate or maintain" shall include without limitation, disposing or contracting for the disposal of refuse in a dumping ground or open dump.

“Dumping ground” is defined in 310 CMR 19.006 as:

a facility or place used for the disposal of solid waste from one or more sources which is not established or maintained pursuant to a valid site assignment or permit in accordance with M.G.L. c. 111, § 150A, 310 CMR 16.00 or 310 CMR 19.000.

 “Maintain” means “to establish, keep or sustain the presence of a facility on a site, whether or not such facility is in operation or has been closed.”  310 CMR 19.006.  “Disposal” means the “final dumping, landfilling or placement of solid waste into or on any land or water or the incineration of solid waste.”  310 CMR 19.006.  
Here, the Petitioner purchased a parcel of property which indisputably contained large quantities of solid waste, much of which was open and obvious.  The Petitioner does not dispute that after she purchased the Site it constituted an unlicensed dumping ground or landfill and that it continued as such during her ownership.  Upon purchasing the Site, the Petitioner contracted with Mr. Fiore to “clean the trash and debris from the Site once the weather broke in the Spring of 2006,” in order to create soccer fields.  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 1; Petitioner’s Memorandum of Law, p. 2; Xarras PFT, ¶¶ 3-7; Stone Report, pp. 1-2.  Based upon this agreement, in March 2006, Mr. Fiore commenced “disposal” of much of the waste, by either moving it off Site or transferring it to other locations on the Site, some of which had not been previously filled.  It is undisputed that the Petitioner owned the Site during this entire time.  There is no evidence in the record that Mr. Fiore was not acting in accord with the agreement reached to “clean the trash and debris from the” Site, to further the Petitioner’s intent to create soccer fields.  It is undisputed that the Petitioner made no effort with the Department to bring the Site into compliance with the solid waste laws before the violations were reported in April 2006.  
The Petitioner’s intentional course of conduct—purchasing the Site and subsequently maintaining, keeping, and sustaining it in the same state—constitutes willfully “maintaining” a dumping ground by means of “keeping or sustaining” the Site in its unlicensed and unlawful condition.  The record also shows that when it was agreed Mr. Fiore would “clean the trash and debris from” the Site, the Petitioner also willfully maintained the dumping ground by “contracting for the disposal of refuse in a dumping ground or open dump.”  310 CMR 19.014(1).  For all the above reasons, the Petitioner thus intended and performed a course of conduct that violated the law; there is no evidence that the course of conduct was “the result of error” because there is no evidence that her conduct was “accidental, unforeseeable and beyond the control of the regulated entity.”  The Petitioner’s conduct was therefore willful.  Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision (March 22, 2010) adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010); see also Matter of Matt, Docket No. 97-011, Final Decision (October 7, 1998) (concluding that whether the petitioner actually placed the solid waste on the site did not preclude liability for maintaining it as a dumping ground).


Absestos Violations.  The Air Pollution Control Regulations, 310 CMR 7.00, place responsibility and liability for the proper disposal of asbestos on the owner or operator of a property, stating:

(e) Waste Disposal. Each owner/operator shall:

1. Discharge no visible or particulate emissions to the ambient air during the collection, processing, packaging, transporting, transferring, or disposing of any asbestos-containing waste material, and use the disposal methods specified in 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e) such that the asbestos-containing material is non-friable;

310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.  Owner and operator is defined at 310 CMR 7.00 as:

OWNER/OPERATOR means any person, any department or instrumentality of the federal government, or any public or private group which: a) has legal title, alone or with others, of a facility, b) has the care, charge, or control of a facility, or c) has control of a demolition/renovation operation, including but not limited to contractors and subcontractors. 
The Department alleged in the PAN that the Petitioner is liable as an owner and operator because the Site contained asbestos that was not kept and handled in a wet state, it was not sealed in leak tight containers, and it was not labeled, all in violation of 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a.
  The Department also alleged that the Petitioner violated 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)2 because she owned and operated property containing asbestos that was not properly stored at the site, in violation of 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)2.  That provision requires storage at “a refuse transfer station facility permitted to manage asbestos waste in accordance with 310 CMR 19.061: Special Waste.”
The record indisputably shows that a substantial quantity of asbestos was strewn throughout the Site, which was owned and operated by the Petitioner.  There is no evidence that the asbestos was properly wetted, containerized, labeled, or stored until after the violations were reported to the Department, and it conducted an investigation and issued orders for remediation.  There is no evidence that the Petitioner attempted to properly handle and dispose of the asbestos upon acquiring ownership of the Site; the evidence, instead, demonstrates that the Petitioner owned and controlled the Site in the same condition, until Mr. Fiore followed through on his agreement with the Petitioner to clean all waste and debris from the Site.  The Petitioner’s own witnesses testified that they were aware the Site “contained miscellaneous trash and other construction debris throughout the entire site.”  Tocci, ¶ 4; see also Pirro PFT.  They “observed that the materials on site, the solid waste and asbestos containing materials, are historic and were on the site well prior to November 22, 2005.”  Tocci, ¶ 9; see also Pirro PFT.   
The Petitioner’s course of conduct was intentional—she intended to own and operate the Site in its existing condition, which happened to include unlawfully handled and stored asbestos.  The Site remained in that condition until the spring of 2006 when it was agreed Mr. Fiore would “clean the trash and debris from” the Site, further exacerbating the existing unlawful conditions.  The Petitioner never investigated the extent of asbestos contamination or inquired with Department officials regarding how to handle the asbestos.  For all the above reasons, the Petitioner intended and performed a course of conduct that violated the law; there is no evidence that the course of conduct was “the result of error” because there is no evidence that her conduct was “accidental, unforeseeable and beyond the control of the regulated entity.”  The Petitioner’s conduct was therefore willful.  Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision (March 22, 2010) adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010).  
Wetlands Violations.  Pursuant to the Wetlands Protection Act (¶ 32), “[n]o person shall remove, fill, dredge or alter any area subject to protection under this section without the required authorization, or cause, suffer or allow such activity . . . .”  G.L. c. 131 ¶ 40 (emphasis added).  The PAN alleged a violation of 310 CMR10.02(2)(a) because the Petitioner had not filed a Notice of Intent and obtained an Order of Conditions before BLSF and Riverfront Areas were altered.  That provision provides: 

(a) Activities Within the Areas Subject to Protection Under M.G.L. c. 131. § 40. Any activity proposed or undertaken within an area specified in 310 CMR 10.02(1), which will remove, dredge or alter that area, is subject to Regulation under M.G.L. c. 131, § 40 and requires the filing of a Notice of Intent except:

Both Riverfront Area and BLSF are “areas subject to protection” under G.L. c. 131 § 40 and 310 CMR 10.02(1)(a).  See 310 CMR 10.02(1)(e) and (1)(f).  It was thus necessary to file a Notice of Intent before altering those areas, which was not done.  The Department also alleged violations of the performance standards for work in Land Subject to Flooding and Riverfront Area, under 310 CMR 10.57(4) and 10.58(4)-(5), respectively.  Jalonski PFT, ¶¶ 4-12.  Those provisions set forth the standards that are to be met for work in those jurisdictional areas.  It is undisputed that the work in those areas did not meet the performance standards.  

The record contains sufficient evidence of the Petitioner’s willful conduct for the above violations.  The agreement that the Petitioner entered for Mr. Fiore to clean the trash and debris from the Site necessarily included alterations of Riverfront Area and BLSF; the entire Site is located within a 100 year Flood Hazard Zone, and thus the entire Site is Bordering Land Subject to Flooding.  Jalonski PFT, ¶¶ 30.A.-C.  The cleanup thus necessarily required alteration of BLSF, which was done at Petitioner’s direction without filing a Notice of Intent and in noncompliance with the performance standards applicable to BLSF under 310 CMR 10.57.  

Regarding the Riverfront Area, the outer 100 feet had been altered prior to the Petitioner’s ownership of the Site.  It had been “cleared and filled, and used as a construction yard for many years.”  Stone PFT, Corrective Action Plan (August 21, 2009), p. 9.  The Petitioner engaged Mr. Fiore to perform the cleanup of the entire Site, which therefore necessarily included this area in the Riverfront Area; the Petitioner entered this engagement and directed the Mr. Fiore to perform the cleanup without filing a Notice of Intent and in noncompliance with performance standards under 310 CMR 10.58.  Jalonski PFT, ¶ 16, 30, 31.  
There is no evidence that Mr. Fiore acted outside his authority or agreement with the Petitioner.  Indeed, when Mr. Jalonski, the Department’s wetlands expert, met with Ms. Xarras on April 20, 2009, and discussed the wetlands violations she never denied initiating and authorizing the work that resulted in the violations.  Jalonski Testimony, Tape 2.  Mr. Jalonski’s experience has been that if the owner did not authorize the work, the owner would promptly inform the Department that it was done contrary to the owner’s authorization.  Jalonski Testimony, Tape 2. 
This case bears striking similarities to Matter of Clementi, Docket No. 99-082, Final Decision (November 16, 2000).  There, the owner was found to have acted willfully in altering wetlands when it contracted “Walter Fiore, the owner of Fiore Construction,” who is apparently the same Walter Fiore involved in this case.  In Clementi, willfulness was found because “Fiore deliberately performed the work that altered the wetlands and the [owner] deliberately procured this work.  The [owner’s] acts were therefore willful, and hence the Department had a basis for issuing a penalty without prior notice of noncompliance.”  Id.  Here, Fiore, likewise deliberately performed the work that altered the wetlands and, as discussed above, the Petitioner deliberately procured this work.
For all the above reasons, the Petitioner intended and performed a course of conduct that violated the law; there is no evidence that the course of conduct was “the result of error” because there is no evidence that her conduct was “accidental, unforeseeable and beyond the control of the regulated entity.”  The Petitioner’s conduct was therefore willful.  Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision (March 22, 2010) adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010).  It is worth emphasizing that the Petitioner’s willfulness is not derived solely from her ownership of the Site.  Rather, it is based upon her affirmative conduct—it was agreed that as part of her purchase of the Site from Mr. Fiore, he would clean the trash and debris from the Site.  This, as discussed above, necessarily included alteration of Bordering Land Subject to Flooding and Riverfront Area.  See Matter of Clementi, Docket No. 99-082, Final Decision (November 16, 2000) (liability for a penalty issued for alteration of wetlands does not arise solely out of ownership of the property on which the alteration occurred); G.L. c. 131 sec. 40 (¶ 32) (“[n]o person shall remove, fill dredge or alter any area subject to protection under this section without the required authorization, or cause, suffer or allow such activity . . . .” (emphasis added)).  




2.
Willfulness Derived From Mr. Fiore’s Conduct
The Petitioner asserts that the cleanup of the Site was “completely under the control of” Mr. Fiore.  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 4 (citing Xarras PFT, ¶¶ 18-19).  She contends that she performed no willful acts that led to the alleged violations.  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 4.  She argues that her only willful act was taking title to the Site.  
The Petitioner’s argument is not persuasive for several reasons.  First, as discussed above, Petitioner performed willful acts with respect to each violation.  Second, the record contains no evidence that the Site cleanup was “completely under the control of” Mr. Fiore.  The agreement directed Mr. Fiore to clean the entire Site of all trash and debris to further the Petitioner’s intent of creating soccer fields.  

Third, under the circumstances of this case, the Petitioner cannot escape a willful finding by simply assigning all blame with Mr. Fiore.  In Matter of Alosso, the willfulness finding was based in part upon the property owners’ vicarious liability for the acts of their agents.  In that case, the Department alleged the petitioners committed violations of Title 5, which placed the duty of compliance with its regulations and requirements “upon the owner(s) and operator(s) of a facility served by the system, jointly and severally.” 310 CMR 15.022.  It was therefore held that a “Department enforcement action for violations of Title 5 is properly brought against the owners of a system for their own actions and for any actions taken by persons they have engaged to act on their behalf.  This is fully consistent with the law of principal and agent under Massachusetts law.”  Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision
 (March 22, 2010) adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010)  (citing Adams v. Hyannis Harborview, Inc., 838 F. Supp. 676, 691 (D.Mass. 1993), aff’d in part sub. nom. Adams v.Zimmerman, 73 F.3d 1164 (1st Cir. 1996); See also Shafnacker v. Raymond James & Associates, Inc., 425 Mass. 724, 735 n. 13 (1997)). 


“Under Massachusetts law, ‘[r]espondeat superior imposes vicarious liability on a principal for the acts or conduct of its agent’ and ‘[l]iability is based not on the agent’s actual or apparent authority to act for the principal, but rather on the agent’s status in relation to the principal.’  Adams, supra, at 691.  The principal is liable for the agent’s conduct if the agent was acting within the scope of his or her employment.  Id.  For the principal to be liable, the agent ‘need not be acting for the ‘exclusive benefit’ of the principal, it is enough that the agent 

intended his [or her] acts to produce some benefit to [the agent] and to the principal second.’”  Id.

In other Department decisions willfulness has been premised, at least in part, on vicarious liability of the actions of agents.  See e.g. See Matter of Cummings Properties Management Inc., Docket No. 98-019, Recommended Final Decision, 9 DEPR 34, 50 (Nov. 21, 2001), adopted by Final Decision (Mar. 15, 2002) (in an asbestos case petitioner building owners did not contest the willfulness finding that was apparently premised, at least in part, on the actions of their contractors); Matter of Clementi, Docket No. 99-082, Final Decision (November 16, 2000) (the owner “through agents acting on its behalf, developed a plan for work on the site, took steps necessary to see that the work was performed, and understood that its efforts would lead to clear cutting the lot and alteration of” the wetland).
Here, as in Matter of Alosso, the record demonstrates that Mr. Fiore was generally engaged by the Petitioner to “clean the trash and debris from the Site once the weather broke in the Spring of 2006,”  in order to further the Petitioner’s objective of creating soccer fields.  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 1; Petitioner’s Memorandum of Law, p. 2; Xarras PFT, ¶¶ 3-7; Stone Report, p. 2.  There is no evidence that Mr. Fiore was acting outside the scope of the agreement.  He acted for his benefit (a term of conveying the Site to the Petitioner) and for the benefit of the Petitioner.
The Petitioner asserts without support in the record that there is no evidence of her willfulness because the cleanup “was completely under the control of” Mr. Fiore.  The Petitioner’s citation to Mr. Xarras’ testimony does not support this assertion.  Moreover, under the circumstances of this case, the Petitioner cannot avoid a willfulness finding by assigning all blame to Mr. Fiore.  While it is the general rule that the employer of an independent contractor is not subject to liability for acts or omissions of the contractor or his servants, “the exceptions to this rule have become more important than the rule.”  See J.R. Nolan & L.J. Sartorio, Tort Law § 22.7 (3d ed. 2005); (citing Whalen v. Shivek, 326 Mass. 142, 150–151, 93 N.E.2d 393, 398–399 (1950)(“the general rule is ‘now primarily important as a preamble to the catalog of exceptions.’”).  One such exception arises when the work performed by the independent contractor involves some inherent danger or risk.  Under such circumstances the principal is vicariously liable for the independent contractor’s conduct.  Id.; Whalen, 326 Mass. at 150–151, 93 N.E.2d at 398–399 (citing several cases).  Liability generally arises if the work to be performed is “of such a kind that it would probably cause injury to [others] unless special precautions were taken.”  Whalen, 326 Mass. at 151, 93 N.E.2d at 399
; see also J.R. Nolan & L.J. Sartorio, Tort Law § 22.7 (3d ed. 2005) (citing Boucher v. New York, N.H. & H.R. Co.,196 Mass. 355, 359, 82 N.E. 15, 17 (Mass.1907)(when “[o]ne who is required by statute or by administrative regulation to provide safeguards for the safety of others is subject to liability to those persons for whose protection the duty is imposed for harm caused by the failure of an independent contractor hired to provide such safeguards.”).  In Whalen, the court concluded that an inherent danger or risk existed when the contractor was retained to remove a parapet weighing approximately two hundred pounds from a building that bordered on a public sidewalk.  Whalen, 326 Mass. at 151, 93 N.E.2d at 399.
Here, Mr. Fiore’s obligation to “clean the trash and debris from the” Site in order to create soccer fields indisputably occurred in a dumping ground or landfill that contained substantial amounts of regulated asbestos.  The inherent risk or danger of such work is obvious.  The risk and danger were heightened by the fact that the work occurred in Riverfront Area and Bordering Land Subject to Flooding, both of which are protected areas under the Wetland Protection Act.  Riverfront Area is likely to be “significant to protect the private or public water supply; to protect groundwater; to provide flood control; to prevent storm damage; to prevent pollution; to protect land containing shellfish; to protect wildlife habitat; and to protect the fisheries.”  310 CMR 10.58(1).  Bordering Land Subject to Flooding, is significant to protect flood control, storm damage prevention, and important wildlife habitat.  310 CMR 10.57(1)(a).  Given the inherent dangers and risks associated with cleaning a dumping ground or landfill containing asbestos in Riverfront Area and Bordering Land Subject to Flooding, the Petitioner cannot avoid being vicariously liable for Mr. Fiore’s willful conduct that resulted in violations of laws with respect to solid waste, asbestos regulation, and wetlands.
  

III.
The Penalties Are Not Excessive 
Although G.L. c. 21A § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25(10) require the Department to consider several factors in calculating the penalty, it “leaves the weight to be given each factor to agency discretion.  The penalty assessment amount therefore, is not a factual finding but the exercise of a discretionary grant of power.”  Matter of Roofblok Limited, DEP Docket Nos. 2006-047 & 048, Final Decision (May 7, 2010), Final Decision on Reconsideration (July 22, 2010) (quoting  Matter of Associated Building Wreckers, Inc., DEP Docket No. 2003-132, Final Decision, 11 DEPR 176 (July 6, 2004)).  “While the Department retains the discretion as to the weight given to the various factors, the penalty amount must reflect the facts of each case.”  Id.  Thus, the Department “bears the ultimate burden of persuasion to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that it acted in accordance with its discretion in determining the amount of the penalty—that it sufficiently considered the required statutory and regulatory factors, and such consideration is reflected in the penalty amount.”  Id.  
A. Gravity Based Adjustments

The Petitioner makes two arguments for a downward penalty adjustment.  First, she contends that the gravity impact should not have been adjusted upward because there was “no new risk or impact to the environment and no additional costs or damages to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts” because the environmental harm arose from “previously existing conditions.”  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 5.  The Petitioner contends that “[t]here was no action taken by [her] that created or added to the alleged violations.”  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 5.  
The gravity based adjustment is based upon the “seriousness of the particular violation relative to other violations of the same statutory or regulatory requirement [including] . . . the actual and potential impact on public health, safety, welfare, and the environment . . ., and the actual or potential costs incurred, and actual and potential damages suffered, by the Commonwealth as a result of the violation.”  Jalonski PFT, ¶ 14.D.  The Guidelines do not allow adjustments downward for gravity.  Penny PFT, ¶ 14.D.  
The Department made upward gravity adjustments of 30% for each of the asbestos violations.  Levins PFT, ¶¶ 6-19.  The 30% gravity adjustment is considered moderate and was made because asbestos is a known carcinogen but yet “dry asbestos-containing transit pipe [was] strewn about the Site exposed to the ambient air” and there was no evidence of attempts to comply with the asbestos regulations.  Levins PFT, ¶¶ 10.C, 11.C, 12.C., 13.C.  The violations were some of the most egregious Mr. Levins had witnessed because there were crushed and fragmented pieces throughout the site.  Levins Testimony, Tape 2.  There was an open and obvious proliferation of construction debris and waste at the Site prior to and after Mr. Fiore performed the work; the Petitioner, however, failed to perform any investigation or inquiry prior to Mr. Fiore executing their agreement.  For all the above reasons, I find that the Department sufficiently considered the gravity factor, and appropriately made a 30% upward adjustment.
Mr. Jalonski made a 10% upward gravity adjustment for the violation under 310 CMR 10.57(4) (violation of performance standards for Bordering Land Subject to Flooding) because no compensatory flood storage was provided and the entire site is located within the 100 year flood hazard zone, resulting in an actual impact to the environment.  Jalonski PFT, ¶¶ 30.C.  This adjustment is supported by the record.  
Based upon all of the above, I find that the Department acted in accordance with its discretion in determining the amount of the penalty relative to gravity—it sufficiently considered the gravity factor, and such consideration is reflected in the penalty amount. 
B. Good Faith Adjustments

The Petitioner contends that there should not have been upward adjustments for lack of good faith because “[t]here is nothing in the record that suggests that the Petitioner was anything but cooperative with, and responsive to, the Department.”  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 6.  The Petitioner argues this “is clearly a case where a buyer of a property unknowingly bought a contaminated site.”  Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 6.  She claims that “immediately upon being informed of the problem, [she] in good faith addressed each and every concern of the DEP.”     Petitioner’s Closing Brief, p. 6.  She therefore claims that rather than upward adjustments for lack of good faith there should have been a 50% reduction in the penalty for good faith.

The good faith adjustment takes into account the factors set forth in “310 CMR 5.25(3)-(5), i.e., whether the violator took steps to prevent the failure(s) to comply, to promptly come into compliance after the occurrence of the failure(s) to comply, or to remedy and mitigate whatever harm might have been done as a result of the failure(s) to comply.”  Jalonski PFT, ¶ 14.G.  “The Guidelines state that the Existence of or Lack of Good Faith adjustment may result in a 0% to 50% downward or upward adjustment.  This adjustment is intended to evaluate a violator’s actions, omissions and conduct related to environmental compliance, but not the violator’s ‘good’ or ‘bad’ personality.  In apply this adjustment, the Guidelines instruct MassDEP personnel to consider the following: the degree of control the violator had over the events, and whether the violator took reasonable precautions against the events; the foreseeability of the events, and whether the violator knew or should have known of the hazards associated with the events; whether the violator knew of the legal requirement(s) violated (the Guidelines state that MassDEP personnel can adjust upward only for this consideration); the amount of control the violator had over how quickly the violation was, or could have been remedied; and what the violator did, and how quickly to remedy the violation.”  Jalonski PFT, ¶ 14.G.
Mr. Jalonski testified regarding the calculation of the penalty for the wetlands violations, for which the Department made no good faith adjustments.  Jalonski PFT, ¶¶ 11-31.  Mr. Jalonski generally did not make any good faith adjustments because he had no information about whether Ms. Xarras had made any efforts to prevent the violation or whether she had knowledge of the legal requirements for work in wetland resource areas.  Jalonski PFT, ¶¶ 19, 30.E., 31.E.
  Mr. Jalonski testified that the Petitioner cooperated with the Department, her actions were reasonable, and he did not believe that she acted in bad faith during the cleanup process.  Nevertheless, he made no downward adjustment for good faith because he also considered that there was evidence of lack of good faith, mainly failing to take any actions to comply with the wetland regulations and prevent the violations; he testified that this lack of good faith resulted in “a wash” or a net adjustment of zero, because the upward adjustment for lack of good faith was cancelled out by the downward adjustment for good faith.  Jalonski Testimony, Tape 2.  Mr. Jalonski did, however, make a 50% downward adjustment in the “other” category on the penalty calculation worksheet for the violation of 310 CMR 10.58 (failure to comply with performance standards for Riverfront Area) because “portions of the subject site where work occurred contained previously altered Riverfront Area.”   Jalonski PFT, ¶¶ 31.H, Exhibit J.  
Regarding the solid waste violations, the Department’s 10% upward adjustment for lack of good faith is the net result after considering that the Petitioner did not place the waste there but nevertheless buried much of the solid waste during the March 2006 work.  Penny PFT, ¶ 17, Exhibit H; Penny Testimony, Tape 2.  The Department made a 25% upward adjustment for the lack of good faith for each of the asbestos violations.  This adjustment resulted from a 50% upward adjustment for lack of any effort to comply with the regulations and exposure of the asbestos to the ambient air, less a 25% reduction for the prompt retention of an asbestos remediation contractor.  Levins PFT, ¶¶ 10.E., 11.E., 12.E., 13.E.
Based upon all of the above, I find that the Department acted in accordance with its discretion in determining the amount of the penalty with respect to good faith—it sufficiently considered the good faith factor, and such consideration is reflected in the penalty amount.
CONCLUSION

Based on the applicable law and the testimonial and documentary evidence, as discussed in detail above, I recommend that the Department’s Commissioner enter a Final Decision upholding the PAN.  There is sufficient evidence of willfulness and the Department adequately exercised its discretion in calculating the penalty.  The Motion for Preclusion should be denied because the UAO was issued at the same time as the PAN, which was timely appealed; the UAO therefore does not constitute a prior final judgment on the merits for purposes of claim preclusion.  
NOTICE-RECOMMENDED FINAL DECISION
This decision is a Recommended Final Decision of the Presiding Officer.  It has been transmitted to the Commissioner for her Final Decision in this matter.  This decision is therefore not a Final Decision subject to reconsideration under 310 CMR 1.01(14)(d), and may not be appealed to Superior Court pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A.  The Commissioner’s Final Decision is subject to rights of reconsideration and court appeal and will contain notice to that effect.  Once the Final Decision is issued “a party may file a motion for reconsideration setting forth specifically the grounds relied on to sustain the motion” if “a finding of fact or ruling of law on which a final decision is based is clearly erroneous.”  310 CMR 1.01(14)(d).  “Where the motion repeats matters adequately considered in the final decision, renews claims or arguments that were previously raised, considered and denied, or where it attempts to raise new claims or arguments, it may be summarily denied. . . .  The filing of a motion for reconsideration is not required to exhaust administrative remedies.”  Id.

Because this matter has now been transmitted to the Commissioner, no party shall file a motion to renew or reargue this Recommended Final Decision or any part of it, and no party shall communicate with the Commissioner’s office regarding this decision unless the Commissioner, in her sole discretion, directs otherwise.  
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� This appeal was transferred from Presiding Officer Beverly Coles-Roby to the undersigned on November 30, 2009, prior to the submission of Pre-Filed Direct Testimony and the adjudicatory hearing.  See Order to Show Cause (January 4, 2010).


� “Solid Waste” is defined as “useless, unwanted or discarded solid . . . material resulting from industrial, commercial, mining, agricultural, municipal or household activities that is abandoned by being disposed or incinerated or is stored, treated or transferred pending such disposal, incineration or other treatment . . . .”  310 CMR 19.006.  


� Upon acquiring ownership of the Site, the Petitioner was obligated to comply with G.L. c. 131 ¶ 40 (¶ 30), which provides: “Any person who purchases . . . real estate upon which work has been done in violation of the provisions of [the Wetlands Protection Act] . . . shall forthwith . . . restore such real estate to its condition prior to any such violation . . . .”


� At the hearing, the Department moved for me to take administrative notice of a filing with the Massachusetts Secretary of State’s Office of the Annual Report for Fiore Construction Co., Inc., which is dated December 31, 2004, and states Fiore Construction Co, Inc. was engaged in “water and sewer construction.”  I took the motion under advisement.  I now deny the motion because an inadequate foundation was laid.  There has been no showing that Fiore Construction Co., Inc. conducted any business with respect to the Property prior to the Petitioner’s purchase of the property.  The Site was conveyed by Mr. Fiore to the Petitioner in his individual capacity, not on behalf of Fiore Construction Co., Inc.  Penny PFT, Exhibit B. 


�  “Asbestos tends to break into a dust of microscopic fibers. Because of their size and shape, these tiny fibers can remain suspended in the air for long periods of time and can easily penetrate bodily tissue when inhaled. Because of their durability, these fibers can remain in the body for many years.  Asbestos is known to cause asbestosis and various forms of cancer. Asbestosis is a chronic disease of the lungs which makes breathing progressively more difficult, and can lead to death. Cancer can result from breathing asbestos fibers and lung cancer is the most frequent. Mesothelioma, an incurable cancer of the chest and abdominal membranes, almost never occurs without exposure to asbestos. Asbestos related diseases have a long latency period and do not show up until 10 to 40 years after exposure. Each exposure increases the likelihood of developing an asbestos-related disease.”  � HYPERLINK "http://www.mass.gov/dep/air/asbguid.htm" �http://www.mass.gov/dep/air/asbguid.htm� (emphasis in original); Matter of RDA Construction Corporation, Docket No. 2009-015, Recommended Final Decision (June 16, 2010) adopted by Final Decision (June 22, 2010) (“Exposure to asbestos causes many painful, premature deaths due to mesothelioma and lung, gastrointestinal, and other cancers, as well as asbestosis and other diseases. . . . Studies show that asbestos is a highly potent carcinogen and that severe health effects occur even after short-term, high level or longer-term, low level exposure to asbestos. See 40 CFR Part 763, January 12, 1989, published in the Federal Register, Vol. 54, No. 132, at 29467.”)








� On March 9, 2010, I allowed the Department’s Motion to Strike testimony from Edward Cuddahy, Malcom Lavanway, Matthew Marro, and Kevin Crowley.  Ruling on Department’s Motion to Strike (March 9, 2010).  These witnesses were stricken because they were not previously identified by the Petitioner, their testimony was duplicative, and the Petitioner failed to provide good cause for the late designation or assert any prejudice if the witnesses were stricken.  Id.  At the adjudicatory hearing I allowed the Department’s verbal motion to strike testimony from Mr. Walter Fiore, with the Petitioner’s assent.





� I note that the UAO and the PAN are almost identical in format and language, with some variation in labels and language.  When Ms. Xarras attempted to appeal the UAO she asserted that she believed that she had received two copies of the PAN.  This is plausible given the similarity in format and language between the two documents.





� Matter of Harold B. Wassener, Docket No. 2007-162, Recommended Final Decision (February 24, 2010), adopted by Final Decision (March 16, 2010), decided that preclusive effect should attach to a PAN from an unappealed simultaneously issued UAO.  That matter is distinguishable because it did not address the res judicata issues discussed in this decision and preclusive effect was also based upon 310 CMR 1.01(10), which authorizes a Presiding Officer to sanction a party.  I recognize the policy basis for allowing the use of defaults for claim preclusive effect but it is not on point here where a party simultaneously evidences her intent to oppose the merits of the same claims.  See In re David Brennan d/b/a Brennco Builders, 275 B.R. at 176-7 (failure to recognize preclusive effect could encourage parties to ignore judicial proceedings and provide a disincentive for litigating all appropriate claims at once).


� The regulation at 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a. provides that each owner or operator shall: “adequately wet asbestos-containing waste material obtained from air cleaning equipment or from removal operations and, while wet, containerize and seal the asbestos-containing waste material in leak-tight containers, [which are properly] labeled . . . .”





� The Recommended Final Decision explicitly based this vicarious liability analysis on the Recommended Interlocutory Decision (October 8, 2009), which was adopted in pertinent part by the Commissioner in the Interlocutory Remand Decision (January 6, 2010).   See Matter of Alosso, Docket No. 2003-163 and 2003-164, Recommended Final Decision (March 22, 2010) adopted by Final Decision (May 7, 2010) ( “In that regard, it’s worth repeating the statement of the law provided in the RID (pp. 14-16)”).  I have repeated that statement of the law regarding vicarious liability from the Recommended Interlocutory Decision in Matter of Alosso.  The Recommended Interlocutory Decision correctly distinguished Matter of Fadili Construction Co., Docket No. 87-150, Final Decision (June 11, 1996).


�(citing Thompson v. Lowell, Lawrence, & Haverhill Street Railway Co., 170 Mass. 577, 49 N.E. 913, 40 L.R.A. 345, 64 Am.St.Rep. 323 (exhibition of marksmanship by landless men); Wetherbee v. Partridge, 175 Mass. 185, 55 N.E. 894, 78 Am.St.Rep. 486 (blasting); Herrick v. Springfield, 288 Mass. 212, 192 N.E. 626 (burning timber land); Pannella v. Reilly, 304 Mass. 172, 23 N.E.2d 87 (use of poisonous spray in vicinity of vegetable garden); Ferguson v. Ashkenazy, 307 Mass. 197, 29 N.E.2d 826 (fumigating by poisonous gas); and comparing Boomer v. Wilbur, 176 Mass. 482, 57 N.E. 1004, 53 L.R.A. 172 (repairing chimney did not possess inherent danger or risk); Davis v. John L. Whiting & Son Co., 201 Mass. 91, 87 N.E. 199, 18 A.L.R. 782 (painting shutters did not possess inherent danger or risk); Regan v. Superb Theatre, Inc., 220 Mass. 259, 107 N.E. 984 (use of staging in painting theatre marquee did not possess inherent danger or risk); Pickett v. Waldorf System, Inc., 241 Mass. 569, 136 N.E. 64, 23 A.L.R. 1014 (washing windows did not possess inherent danger or risk); McCarthy v. Waldorf System, Inc., 251 Mass. 437, 146 N.E. 663 (operation of sidewalk elevator did not possess inherent danger or risk); Berman v. Greenburg, 314 Mass. 540, 50 N.E.2d 773 (use of machine to produce steam in removal of wallpaper did not possess inherent danger or risk)).  


� A related exception exists where “[o]ne who employs an independent contractor to do work which the employer knows or has reason to know is likely to involve a trespass or a nuisance is liable for harm resulting to others from such trespass or nuisance.”  J.R. Nolan & L.J. Sartorio, Tort Law § 22.7 (3d ed. 2005) (citing Restatement, Second, Torts, § 427B); J.R. Nolan & L.J. Sartorio, Tort Law § 21.3 (3d ed. 2005) (“An owner who leases his property in a condition which constitutes a nuisance may be liable for injuries which are the result of the negligence of an employee of an independent contractor hired by the lessee to eliminate the nuisance.”).  Nuisance in this context is defined as a “condition unreasonably dangerous to the use of neighboring land or public right, and the wrong consists in omitting to take reasonable steps to remedy the condition . . .”  Nassr v. Commonwealth, 394 Mass. 767, 777, 477 N.E.2d 987, 993 (1985) (public nuisance was an unlawful handling and disposal of hazardous materials and waste resulting in risk of groundwater contamination and accidental on-site ignition in the warehouse).  One who “continues a nuisance is liable as well as he who establishes it.”  Id.  Thus an owner is liable for a continuing nuisance even though she did not create it.  Id.; Hunt v. Lane Bros., 294 Mass. 582, 586-87, 2 N.E.2d 1020 (1936) (landowner had duty to inspect premises after work done by independent contractor to ascertain whether any objects of peril to persons on the street were left by the independent contractor) .





� Mr. Jalonski’s testimony contains two paragraphs numbered 30.  Therefore the citations to his testimony add 1 to the subsequent paragraphs.
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